ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 18 June 2024

Present:

Councillor Mark Brock (Chairman) Councillor Felicity Bainbridge (Vice-Chairman) Councillors Jessica Arnold, Mike Botting, Graeme Casey, Robert Evans, Dr Sunil Gupta FRCP FRCPath, Mike Jack, Kevin Kennedy-Brooks and Harry Stranger

Stacey Agius, Jo Findlay and Michelle Harvie

Also Present:

Councillor Diane Smith, Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health Councillors Kira Gabbert and Kate Lymer (via conference call - items 12a, 12b and 17a) and Shamilah Martin (via conference call - items 12a, 12b and 17a)

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Kim Botting and Councillor Gemma Turrell, and Councillor Harry Stranger and Councillor Dr Sunil Gupta attended as their respective substitutes.

2 APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBERS 2024-25

Report CSD24062

The Committee considered a report which sought confirmation of the appointment of Co-opted Members to the Adult Care and Health PDS Committee and membership of the South East London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2024/25.

RESOLVED that:

i.) The following Adult Care and Health PDS Committee Co-opted Membership appointments for 2024/25 (to be re-appointed annually until the end of the current four-year term of the Council) be agreed:

Co-opted Member	Organisation / Key area of interest
Jo Findlay	Lived experience
Michelle Harvie	Carer
Stacey Agius	Safeguarding and Special Educational Needs
Charlotte Bradford (Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee)	Healthwatch Bromley

ii.) Councillors Mark Brock and Felicity Bainbridge be reappointed as Members of the South East London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2024/25.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

4 QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING THE MEETING

No questions had been received.

5 MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD ON 12TH MARCH 2024 AND 15TH MAY 2024

The minutes of the meetings held on 12th March 2024 and 15th May 2024 were agreed and signed as a correct record.

6 WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING

Report CSD24068

The Committee considered a report setting out matters outstanding from previous meetings and the proposed work plan for 2024/25.

The Chairman noted that confirmation of the Children and Young People's element of the domiciliary care budget had been provided to Members (minute 70a).

In response to a question from the Chairman, the Director of Adult Services advised that a 'Briefing on Member Visits' paper had been included in the Information Briefing pack for the meeting. Work was continuing to progress the programme of Member visits, providing sufficient notice and clarity regarding timings. The Chairman highlighted that Members had been unaware of a proposed visit scheduled to take place on the 18th July until being issued with the Information Briefing. The importance of providing Members with as much notice as possible was emphasised.

In relation to the Assistive Technology session (minute 56), the Director of Adult Services informed Members that this would now be arranged early in the autumn, as the timing of the session had to be reconsidered due to room availability.

In response to a question regarding the work programme, the Director of Adult Services advised that the Adult Social Care Transformation – Workforce Strategy 2023-28 was still being finalised, and would be presented to the Adult Care and Health PDS Committee later in the year.

RESOLVED that the update be noted.

7 UPDATE FROM THE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE

The Director of Adult Services gave an update to Members on work being undertaken across the Adult Services department.

The Director of Adult Services informed Members that Donna Glover, the new Director of Adult Services would start in post on the 9th September, taking over as the Statutory Director on the 23rd September 2024. Support would be provided to the new Director of Adult Services for a few weeks after she took over the role, and they would both be attending the next Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee on the 10th September.

The Director of Adult Services said she was pleased to note the year-end budget position, which was a slightly improved position on that predicted at the end of Quarter 3. This left the Directorate better placed to manage within the available resources this year, but this would by no means be an easy task. The team had started to identify potential efficiencies for future years to reduce the overall corporate budget gap.

Members were informed that a report would be presented later in the meeting regarding the Digital Strategy. This formalised plans to work with a partner to deliver an improved digital offer to the population that encouraged less reliance on formal services, improved the information and advice offer and assisted with reducing demand on staff to deliver assessment of both need and finances. In the next few weeks the Council would formally go out to tender to attract the strategic partner to deliver the Transformation Programme over the next two years. The Director of Adult Services noted that this was an officer decision, but she would ensure that Members were provided with the detail of this process at the next meeting.

Members were advised that, building on the relationship with the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE), the department had been directly approached to take part in some national work they were leading on with the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) to increase the transformation of a number of service areas. They had reflected that for two of the workstreams, Digital and Co-Production, Bromley was well ahead, but it was intended to bid to work with them to review opportunities around Safeguarding and the delivery

of Housing options for Older People. Both of these were areas identified as a priority, so they were hopeful of success with one of the bids. There was no financial commitment for the Council for this work, but potential for kudos as work would be shared with others across the country.

The Director of Adult Services noted that the department had recently reported on three further internal audits: Safeguarding of Adults, Learning Disability and the Quality of Residential Care. The Safeguarding Audit provided Limited Assurance and had a robust action plan in place to address the areas highlighted. The work with SCIE would assist with delivering the action plan hence the interest in bidding for this programme. The Learning Disability Audit was given Reasonable Assurance and the Quality of Residential Care was given Substantial Assurance. All of these audits had provided a useful steer on areas to address prior to the CQC Assurance visit. In response to a question, the Director of Adult Services confirmed that a report in relation to the Safeguarding of Adults Audit could be provided to Members of the Committee.

Members were informed that the joint Carers Charter, which sought to better support unpaid carers, would be launched during Carers Week which was currently taking place. The Director of Adult Services noted that a copy of the Adult Social Care Strategy had been tabled.

The Director of Adult Services said that in preparing her handover she had the chance to review the work overseen during her time in Bromley and to reflect on the changes and improvements that the team had put in place. The Director of Adult Services put on record her thanks to Bromley for the opportunity afforded to end her professional career in the borough and thanked the team and all Members for their support during some challenging times and in delivering some really brave change.

RESOLVED that the update be noted.

8 ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO PLAN 2023-24 HALF YEARLY UPDATE AND 2024-25 REFRESH

Report ACH24-030

The Committee considered a report providing an update for the second half of the 2023-24 Portfolio Plan and a refresh of the Adult Care and Health Portfolio Plan for 2024-25.

The Adult Care and Health Portfolio Plan was refreshed each year in line with the Council's Transformation Programme and the Corporate Strategy 'Making Bromley Even Better'. Within each priority were a number of statements which were underpinned by actions and measures of success within the work of Adult Care and Health Services. In the second half of 2023-24, progress had been made on all of the actions within the Portfolio Plan.

The Portfolio Plan 2024-25 focused on two of the ambitions from Making Bromley Even Better:

- Ambition 2 for adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, retaining independence and making choices; and,
- Ambition 5 to manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective services for Bromley's residents.

It was noted that the Plan also aligned with the Adult Social Care Strategy.

In response to questions, the Director of Adult Services noted that, as agreed earlier in the meeting, a report on the Safeguarding of Adults Audit would be provided to the Committee. Concerns had been raised in the audit however opportunities to identify the positive work undertaken had been missed – this had been challenged, and there had been a shift in the response from the external auditor. A robust plan was being developed to ensure responses could be quality checked – they were looking to work with SCIE to receive further external scrutiny and provide reassurance that practice was matching policy and expectations. In response to a question from a Co-opted Member regarding any learning/practices that could be taken from Children's Services, the Director of Adult Services said that this was often discussed, particularly in terms of transition. It was noted that safeguarding of adults had less of a legal framework around it. The main difference was that people were encouraged to take risks in order to maintain their independence, but there was some learning that could be taken.

With regards to the review of the hospital social work team to better support the pathway, the Director of Adult Services said that this would not involve additional resource. The review would ensure that work being undertaken by the hospital social work team was aligned to reflect the changed pathways that had been put in place – this included undertaking assessments in an individual's own home, rather than in a hospital setting. The hospital social work team were linking with the award-winning single point of assessment (SPA) to move individuals through the pathway as quickly as possible and in to long-term support.

A Member noted that some of the services were currently held in venues that were facing closure. In response to questions, the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that meetings/discussions were taking place with organisations and ongoing support would be provided. It was emphasised that if any decisions were made they would be mindful of the locality of the people who used the services, as well as how they accessed them.

A Member welcomed the work that was underway with registered social landlords to develop opportunities, as part of the Housing with Care Strategy which incorporated plans to develop Extra Care Housing. In response to questions, the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning said that with regards to day opportunities for older people, despite accommodation presenting some issues, 20 new schemes had been introduced over the last

year. It was noted that the business case for a new Council owned older people's care home was in progress, and a report on the Housing with Care Strategy would be presented to the Committee later in the year.

RESOLVED that:

- i.) the progress on the actions associated with the Adult Care and Health Portfolio Plan for the second half of 2023-24 Appendix 1 be noted; and,
- ii.) the refresh of the Portfolio Plan for 2024/25 Appendix 2, be noted.

9 ACH RISK REGISTER - QUARTER 4

Report ACH24-031

The Committee considered a report providing the current Adult Care and Health Services' Risk Register – Quarter 4 2023/24 and the existing controls in place to mitigate the risks.

Since November 2023, when the ACH PDS last saw the Risk Register, Risk 10 – Data Collections, had been removed and the following change had been made to the gross and net (current) risks – Risk 1 – Financial Strategy – change of net risk from 12 to 16.

In response to a question regarding Risk 14 (Community Equipment), the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that the red rating was scored after the credits due had been received, and confirmed that the risk rating of 16 still applied.

RESOLVED that the current Adult Care and Health Services' Risk Register and the existing controls in place to mitigate the risks be noted.

10 TACKLING LONELINESS STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 2022-2026 - UPDATE

Report ACH24-032

The Committee considered a report providing an update on the delivery of the Tackling Loneliness Strategy Action Plan. The Tackling Loneliness Strategy was approved by the Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee in November 2021 and was launched later that year. At the time, Members were advised that an updated action plan would be brought to the Committee with evidence of progress throughout the lifetime of the Strategy.

The Principal Loneliness Champion advised that key highlights included:

- The London Borough of Bromley Tackling Loneliness Workshop started in March 2023 349 people had attended the workshop so far, and it had been delivered within Bromley as well as globally.
- Bromley Well continued to offer a service to reduce isolation and loneliness and enhance the befriending offer across all pathways in the service. From January–March 2024, 66 people have received 1 to 1 befriending support from a dedicated volunteer, with 867 befriending phone calls made to those waiting for 1 to 1 support.
- Six 'Big Lunches' had been planned across the borough in June 2024 to bring residents together in locations highlighted through London's Festival of Architecture. Community initiatives would be promoted to increase social connection at these events.
- The London Borough of Bromley was carrying out research in the form of a survey to understand what impact local groups were having on residents regarding their experience of loneliness and isolation. So far 249 responses had been received to date. The data suggested that from joining a local group, users were more likely to feel more connected to their community the current results showed a 23% increase in connectivity and a reduction in loneliness.
- Simply Connect Bromley, a service e-directory for residents, had received over 72,000 page views over the last 12 months.

Members noted that the Tackling Loneliness Strategy had won the Gold iESE Transformation Public Sector award, in the Community & Customer Focus category in March 2024, and congratulations were extended to all involved in this work. A Member highlighted that it was positive to see some of Bromley's policies being implemented around the world.

Councillor Botting noted that, as Members' Champion, he had sent a number of requests to encourage uptake of the Tackling Loneliness Workshop – however, only 18 Members had currently completed it. It was emphasised that Members regularly met with residents and this training provided an insight into what some may be experiencing. A Member agreed that the Workshop was enjoyable and informative, and asked if there was anything that could be done to encourage uptake. The Principal Loneliness Champion said that she was extremely flexible in terms of offering dates, and could attend Group meetings. It was agreed that Members would take this proposal back to their Groups.

A Member advised that she had contacted the Principal Loneliness Champion on behalf of a resident – they had been able to pinpoint nearby activities on the Simply Connect Bromley database, and it was considered that Members should also be helping to promote this resource.

RESOLVED that the progress made in delivering the Tackling Loneliness Strategy Action Plan 2022–2026 be noted.

11 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORTS

The Committee considered the following reports where the Adult Care and Health Portfolio Holder was recommended to take a decision.

A FINAL OUTTURN REPORT 2023/24

Report FSD24038

The Committee considered a report which provided details of the final outturn position for the Adult Care and Health Portfolio for 2023/24.

The final outturn for the "controllable" element of the Adult Care and Health budget in 2023/24 is a net overspend of £1,311k, compared to the last reported figure of a net forecast overspend of £1,925k which was based on activity at the end of December 2023. The Head of Finance for Adults, Health and Housing advised that there had been particular pressures on packages and placement budgets, including hospital discharge packages and the Community Equipment contract. However, the use of available grant monies had reduced the overspend.

In response to a question regarding the underspend in Extra Care Housing as a result of the net impact of voids, the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that there were 271 units available, however some were considered not to be fit for purpose. Work was being undertaken with the landlord of one scheme to change its use to sheltered housing, which was felt to be more appropriate.

In response to questions, the Head of Finance for Adults, Health and Housing advised that the underspend in quality assurance and safeguarding was primarily related to Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) — this was regarding volume, rather than issues with the service provision. With regards to the deficit in the mental health budget, the Head of Finance for Adults, Health and Housing noted that the full year effect was a snapshot of a moment in time, and did not take into account any packages that were not continuing.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health be recommended to endorse the 2023/24 final outturn position for the Adult Care and Health Portfolio.

B CONTRACT VARIATION: DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

Report ACH24-029

The Committee considered a report seeking approval for a variation to the scope and price of the Digital Strategy contract.

The Council had a contract with the Social Care Institute of Excellence (SCIE) to complete an independent review and produce a forward plan outlining the key findings, improvement recommendations and a roadmap for delivery, to make better use of digital solutions in Adult Social Care service delivery. The contract commenced on 1st May 2023 for an initial eleven month period with the option to extend for a further year at an estimated annual value of £40k (whole life value of £80k inclusive of extension option).

The extension option had been applied with a revised contract end date of 30th September 2024 due to early completion of the initial review work, with work in the extension period focusing on completion of an Adult Social Care Digital Transformation Strategy and Mobilisation Plan.

The Head of Service – Adult Services Transformation and Improvement advised Members that the proposed variation to accommodate the additional work was at an estimated value of £60k, rather than £40k as stated in the report, revising the whole life value of the contract to £140k.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health be recommended to approve the variation to the Digital Strategy contract with the Social Care Institute of Excellence (SCIE) Partnership, as detailed in paragraphs 3.11 to 3.12 of the report, to increase the contract value by £60,000 with a revised whole life value of £140,000 inclusive of the variation.

12 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXECUTIVE REPORTS

A PERMISSION TO PROCURE A FRAMEWORK FOR DOMICILIARY CARE SERVICES 2025-2029

Report ACH24-013

The Chairman welcomed Members of the Children, Education and Families Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee, and the Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Families, to the meeting for consideration of this item.

Members considered a report seeking Executive approval to procure a framework for domiciliary care services 2025-2029.

The Care Act 2014 provided the context of the council's statutory duty to provide Adult Social Care services. Domiciliary Care was a provision under this Act, that described a range of services put into place to support an individual to remain within their own home. The Council discharged this duty through the provision of awarding contracts to Domiciliary Care providers upon the completion of a competitive tendering process under the correct Procurement Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules.

Since, 28th August 2021, the Council had embedded its Domiciliary Care strategy, set out in an earlier Gateway report (CS18147). This Patch model, supported by a call-off Framework of Domiciliary Care providers, had resulted in 31 call-off Framework providers being awarded a four-year contract in 2021. These would expire on 27th August 2025, with no option to extend. The call-off Framework contract was designed to allocate 30-40% of the Domiciliary Care demand to these multiple providers. The Council's total Domiciliary Care spend was £16.4m per annum, with a commensurate spend the call-off Framework providers projected spend was £4.9 to £6.7million per annum.

RESOLVED that the recommendations in the report be supported.

B CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE (PART 1)

Report ACH24-034

The Chairman welcomed Members of the Children, Education and Families Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee, and the Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Families, to the meeting for consideration of this item.

Members considered a report seeking Executive approval to award a substantive Patch contract together with award of contracts to four providers for the Reserve Patch framework.

Under its statutory responsibilities for adult social care, the Council provided domiciliary care services to eligible adult residents at approximately 15,000 hours of standard care per week at an estimated cost of £16m per annum. The Head of Service – Community Living Commissioning advised Members that eligible children and young people also accessed domiciliary care services at an estimated cost of £1.5m per annum, rather than £1m as stated in the report. Members were advised that domiciliary care was delivered through a network of providers. The main provider contracts were based on geographical locations or patches (East, West, Central and South). Each patch was supported by one to three provider contracts, depending on size, known as Patch Providers. Patch Providers were expected to support up to an estimated 70% of domiciliary care packages within their patch, with the remainder of packages supported by a wider Domiciliary Care Framework of providers.

The Patch contracts commenced in August 2021 for a five year period with the option to extend for a further three years with delegated authority to the Chief Officer to apply the extension options. In June 2023, the contract with a Central Patch Provider was terminated early and Executive approval was received to proceed to procurement to replenish the portfolio of Patch contracts. The procurement was also designed to identify further providers to be awarded to a Reserve Patch framework from which future contracts may be awarded, as appropriate, in the event of a further need to replace a Patch contract (Report ACH24-006).

The report, together with the accompanying Part 2 report, set out the outcome of the tendering process and sought Executive approval to award a substantive Patch contract together with award of contracts to four providers for the Reserve Patch framework.

RESOLVED that the recommendations in the report be supported.

C ADULT SOCIAL CARE TRANSFORMATION - DIGITAL STRATEGY 2024-2034 (PART 1)

Report ACH24-035

The Committee considered a report seeking Executive approval of the Adult Social Care Digital Strategy 2024-2024.

The Council had developed the Adult Social Care Strategy for the period 2024 to 2034 to take account of developments across the social care market, changing government policy and wider technological, demographic, and economic changes. It considered the key changes of increased service demand and rising costs pressures in relation to supporting vulnerable older residents, carers, and working age adults with a disability and/or long-term health condition. The report set out what the Council planned to do over the next 10-years through its Adult Social Care Transformation programme, to develop a more sustainable and efficient future operating model that offered a new way of working, providing service quality improvements and better outcomes for Bromley residents and our workforce, whilst delivering good quality and safe care and support. It was noted that 'invest to save' proposals were outlined in the accompanying Part 2 report.

The new Adult Social Care Digital Transformation Strategy 2024 to 2034 had been developed to achieve the Making Bromley Even Better ambitions. It was an ambitious programme that would significantly change the way Adult Services operated in the future, interacted with residents receiving care and support, and with partners across the local system.

In response to a question from the Chairman regarding AI technology, the Head of Service – Adult Services Transformation and Improvement advised that its use would be explored through a number of projects in order to support staff and improve processes. Later in the year they hoped to demonstrate some of different technology available.

In response to questions, the Head of Service – Adult Services Transformation and Improvement confirmed that the co-production would include engagement with both staff and Members, and they would look to set up a series of workshops. With regards to digital exclusion, they were working with Community Links Bromley. Early conversations were taking place in relation to digital inclusion to ensure that assisted support was in place, in line with national guidelines, and key locations identified across the borough for those that needed to access IT and Wi-Fi.

RESOLVED that the recommendations in the report be supported.

13 CONTRACTS REGISTER (PART 1)

Report ACH24-033

The Committee considered an extract from the May 2024 Contracts Register which was presented to Members for detailed scrutiny. The Contracts Register contained in Part 2 of the agenda included a commentary on each contract to inform Members of any issues or developments. It was highlighted that no contracts had been flagged as a concern during this quarter.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.

14 ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS INFORMATION BRIEFING

The Adult Care and Health PDS Information Briefing comprised 4 reports:

- Briefing on Member Visits
- Minutes from the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee meeting held on 12th March 2024
- Bromley Well Contract Monitoring Report
- 0-19 Years Public Health Nursing Service Performance Report

RESOLVED that the Information Briefing be noted.

15 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of the items of business listed below as it was likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

The following summaries
Refer to matters involving exempt information

16 EXEMPT MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 12TH MARCH 2024

RESOLVED that the exempt minutes of the Adult Care and Health PDS Committee meeting held on 12th March 2024 be agreed.

17 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT EXECUTIVE REPORTS

A CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE (PART 2)

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report.

B ADULT SOCIAL CARE TRANSFORMATION - DIGITAL STRATEGY 2024-2034 (PART 2)

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report.

PART 2 (CLOSED AGENDA) POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS

18 CONTRACTS REGISTER (PART 2)

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report.

The Meeting ended at 8.18 pm

Chairman